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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS HOUSTON DIVISION



ABSOLUTE ENERGY SOLUTIONS, LLC Plaintiff, v. JASON TROSCLAIR and RHONDA TROSCLAIR Defendants.



§ § § § § § § § §



CIVIL ACTION NO. 4:13-cv-3358 JURY



PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM IN RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER RULES 12(b)(6) AND 12(b)(1) COMES NOW, Absolute Energy Solutions, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “Plaintiff” or “Absolute”), and files this Memorandum in Response to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Under Rules 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(1). In support thereof, Plaintiff respectfully shows the Court the following: INTRODUCTION 1.



Plaintiff is Absolute Energy Solutions, LLC, a Limited Liability Company, organized



under the laws of the State of Louisiana, with its principal place of business in Harris County, Texas. Defendants are Jason and Rhonda Trosclair, husband and wife, residing in Montgomery County, Texas. 2.



Plaintiff sued both Defendants for violations of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act 18



U.S.C. §1030, et. seq. (the “CFAA” or the “Act”) and defendant Jason Trosclair individually under a state-law claim of trade-secret misappropriation.
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3.



Defendants filed a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be



granted and for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction (the latter is apparently conditioned on the Court granting Defendants’ motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim as to the CFAA claim). 4.



Plaintiff files this response asking the Court to deny Defendants’ motion(s). ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES



5.



When a Rule 12(b)(1) motion is filed in conjunction with other Rule 12 motions, the



Court should consider the Rule 12(b)(1) jurisdictional attack before addressing any attack on the merits. Ramming v. U.S., 281 F.3d 158, 161 (5th Cir. 2001) (citing Hitt v. City of Pasadena, 561 F.2d 606, 608 (5th Cir. 1977) (per curiam)); see also Moran v. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 27 F.3d 169, 172 (5th Cir. 1994). Plaintiff’s claim involves a violation of the CFAA, a claim over which the Court has federal question jurisdiction. 28 U.S.C § 1331. The Court has pendent jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state-law claims “as the claims [are] so related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution.” 28 U.S.C. 1367; see generally United Mine Workers v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715 (1966). Plaintiff’s trade-secret misappropriation claim arises from the same acts that form the basis of Plaintiff’s CFAA claim. Defendant Jason Trosclair, while engaged in an unauthorized access of Plaintiff’s computer system, disclosed trade secrets owned by Plaintiff that Defendant Trosclair acquired by an improper means. (See Plaintiff’s Original Complaint, Dkt. 1, at ¶¶ 13-16). Even if the Court decided to grant Defendants’ 12(b)(6) motion, that alone would not divest the Court of its pendent jurisdiction over the state law claims. Villegas v. El Paso Indep. Sch. Dist., 481 F.Supp.2d 729, 734-35 (W.D. Tex. 2006).
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6.



Typically, courts hold that motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules



of Civil Procedure for failure to state a claim are viewed with disfavor and are rarely granted. See Lormand v. U.S. Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 232 (5th Cir. 2009) (citing Test Masters Educ. Servs., Inc. v. Singh, 428 F.3d 559, 570 (5th Cir. 2005)). A complaint will survive a motion to dismiss if its facts, accepted as true, “state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). Courts make all inferences in a manner favorable to the plaintiff, “but plaintiffs must allege facts that support the elements of the cause of action in order to make out a valid claim.” City of Clinton v. Pilgrim's Pride Corp., 632 F.3d 148, 152–53 (5th Cir. 2010). Allegations pled on “information and belief” should be reviewed in the same way as all factual allegations in a complaint—that is, the court should review them under Twombly's 12(b)(6) formulation requiring sufficient facts pled to make a claim plausible. In re Superior Air Parts, Inc., 486 B.R. 728, 734 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2012). The mere fact that allegations begin with the statement “on information and belief” will not automatically render them insufficient. Intravisual Inc. v. Fujitsu Microelectronics America, Inc., No. 2:10–cv–90– TJW, 2011 WL 1004873, at *5 (E.D. Tex. Mar. 18, 2011). If the complaint provides fair notice of the claim and the factual allegations are sufficient to show that the right to relief is plausible, a court should deny the defendant’s motion. See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009); Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555-56. 7.



Defendants’ 12(b)(6) motion seeks to have Plaintiff’s complaint dismissed for failure to



state a claim, but Defendants’ own motion restates (or summarizes) Plaintiff’s factual allegations in a section titled “Claim Allegations.” (See Defendants Jason Trosclair and Rhonda Trosclair’s
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Motions to Dismiss Under Rules 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(1), Dkt. 8, at 8).1 In its original complaint, Plaintiff alleged claims for violations of the CFAA and state law trade-secret misappropriation. To prevail on a CFAA claim based on a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(2), Plaintiff must show that Defendants (1) intentionally accessed a computer, (2) without authorization or exceeded authorized access, and that they (3) thereby obtained information (4) from any protected computer (if the conduct involved an interstate or foreign communication), and that (5) there was loss to one or more persons during any one year period aggregating at least $5,000 in value. LVRC Holdings LLC v. Brekka, 581 F.3d 1127, 1132 (9th Cir. 2009). Further, to prevail on a civil claim under § 1030(a)(4) of the CFAA, Plaintiff must show that Defendants (1) accessed a “protected computer,” (2) without authorization or exceeding such authorization that was granted, (3) “knowingly” and with “intent to defraud,” and thereby (4) “further[ed] the intended fraud and obtain[ed] anything of value,” causing (5) a loss to one or more persons during any one-year period aggregating at least $5,000 in value. Id. To prevail on the state-law claim, Plaintiff must show that Defendant Jason Trosclair (1) used or disclosed a trade secret owned by Plaintiff, (2) after acquiring the trade secret by improper means, and that such disclosure (3) caused Plaintiff to suffer injury. See Gen. Universal Sys., Inc. v. HAL, Inc., 500 F.3d 444, 449 (5th Cir. 2007); Trilogy Software, Inc. v. Callidus Software, Inc., 143 S.W.3d 452, 463 (Tex.App.—Austin, 2004, pet.denied). 8.



In support of its claim for violations of the CFAA, Plaintiff made the following factual



allegations for each element: (1) That both Jason and Rhonda Trosclair intentionally accessed a protected computer of Absolute, (2) that the Defendants lacked authorization because they were



1



Defendants’ motion fails to comply with the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(b) in that it does not include numbered paragraphs. For that reason, Plaintiff respectfully requests certain latitude when citing to Defendants’ motion.
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not employees of Absolute at the time the intentional access, (3) that Defendants knowingly obtained information of value with the intent to defraud Absolute, (4) from the protected computer of Absolute, a company that engages in interstate commerce, and that the loss they caused (5) exceeded $5,000 in value. These factual allegations show a right to relief that is plausible. That is, when the factual allegations are assumed to be true, they show a right to relief that is more than mere speculation. See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009); Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555-56. Defendants’ motion to dismiss does not assert that Plaintiff failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted as to Plaintiff’s state law claim. Instead, it asserts that if Plaintiff’s federal claim is dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), that the state law claim should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. Even so, Plaintiff has provided sufficient factual allegations in its complaint against Jason Trosclair to show that a right to a relief on the state-law claim is plausible. (See Plaintiff’s Original Complaint, Dkt. 1, ¶¶12-17). 9.



Rather than use their 12(b)(6) motion to point out deficiencies in the allegations,



Defendants include evidence to address the allegations, including the declarations of each defendant. (See Dkt. 7a and 7b). When “matters outside the pleadings” are submitted in support of or in opposition to a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, Rule 12(b) grants courts discretion to accept and consider those materials, but does not require them to do so. Isquith v. Middle S. Utils., Inc., 847 F.2d 186, 193 n. 3 (5th Cir. 1988) (quoting 5C Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice And Procedure § 1366 (1969)). If, on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) or 12(c), matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d). Plaintiff respectfully asks the Court to exclude the matters outside the pleadings presented by Defendants,
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but to take notice that Defendants’ 12(b)(6) motion mostly consists of factual assertions intended to refute the exact claims Defendants accuse Plaintiff of failing to state. CONCLUSION 10.



Plaintiff stated a claim upon which relief can be granted. Furthermore, Plaintiff’s state



law claim is so related to claims in the action for which the Court has federal question jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy. For these reasons, the Court should deny Defendants’ motion and retain the case on the Court’s docket. In the event the Court determines that Plaintiff’s complaint is vulnerable to a 12(b)(6) dismissal, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court permit a curative amendment prior to dismissing the complaint.



Respectfully submitted, THE VERDE LAW FIRM, PLLC /s/ Joshua A. Verde Joshua A. Verde attorney-in-charge State Bar No. 24077590 SDTX No. 1760723 2100 West Loop South, 14th Floor Houston, TX 77027 P: 713-909-4347 F: 713-588-2431 [email protected] ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE I certify that a copy of Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Response to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Under Rules 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(1) was electronically filed/served on January 23, 2014 1. By fax; and 2. On the CM/ECF system, which will automatically serve a Notice of Electronic Filing. on the following attorneys in charge for defendant: Kenneth Sumner 2245 Texas Drive, Suite 300 Sugar Land, TX 77479 Fax: 855-611-8984 /s/ Joshua A. Verde Joshua A. Verde
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